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Brandon Mikula for State Representative
Sponsored - Pald for by Brandon Joseph Mikula

Beautiful day to be out putting up signs with #TeamMikula!
We are working tirelessly to get our message out in as
many ways as we can so that Michiganders in the 32nd
District, come August 4th and November 3rd, receive the
conservative representation they deserve!

This campaign would not be possible without the...

€ Amount spent (USD): <$100

:a Potential Reach: >1M people
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Brandon Mikula for State Representative
Sponsored « Paid for by Brandon Joseph Mikula

As someone who has served in the military - and worked on
Selfridge Air National Guard Base for some time - | am |
keenly aware of hot only its strategic importance, but also
its economic impact on the 32nd District. | have been
making constant inquiries as to expanding the potential of
this great installation - such as bringing the Michigan
Launch Initiative to the base....

€ Amount spent (USD): <$100

& Potential Reach: >1M people
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Smith, Jessica (MDOS)

R I
From: Fracassi, Adam (MDGQS)
Sent: Thursday, October 29, 2020 1:54 PM
To: : Smith, Jessica (MDOS)
Subject: FW: Mikula Complaint
Attachments: Complaint.zip

New complaint. This is the one [ was talking about

From: Kristin Combs <kcombs@lambert.com>

Sent: Wednesday, October 21, 2020 7:26 PM

To: Fracassi, Adam {MDQS) <FracassiA@michigan.gov>
Subject: FW: Mikula Complaint

" 'CAUTION: This is an External email. Please send suspicious emails to abuse@michigan.gov

Hello Adam,
| am just circling back on this complaint. Did you receive this last week?

I never heard back and haven’t seen any record of it on Mr. Mikula’s candidate committee page. Can
you tell me what next steps are for the bureau to investigate the complaint?

Thanks for your help.

Kristin

Kristin Combs, Lambert & Co.
Political Director

0O: 517.267.9017 M: 517.819.2841

From: Kristin Combs

Sent: Wednesday, October 14, 2020 3:38 PM

To: Fracassi, Adam (MDOS) <FracassiA@michigan.gov>
Subject: RE: Mikula Complaint

It was submitted via mail but yes, let me resend! Here you go.
Let me know if there is anything else you need.

Thanks!



Kristin Combs, Lambert & Co.
Political Director

0: 517.267.9017 M: 517.819.2841

From: Fracassi, Adam (MDOS) <FracassiA@michigan.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, October 14, 2020 3:19 PM

To: Kristin Combs <kcombs@lambert.com>

Subject: RE: Mikuia Complaint

Hi Kristin,

| don’t have any record of receiving a complaint against Brandon Mikuta. Did you email or mail it? Will you please
resend it to me (email is okay)?

Thanks,
Adam

From: Kristin Combs <kcombs@lambert.com>

Sent: Wednesday, October 14, 2020 3:02 PM

To: Fracassi, Adam {MDOS) <FracassiA@michigan.gov>
Subject: Mikula Complaint

- CAUTION: This is an External email. Please send suspiciots emails to abuse@michigan.gov

Hi Adam,

| am writing to check on the status of a complaint filed against Brandon Mikula who ran for state rep. in

the Republican primary. it looks like the complaint was filed against “Brandon Mikula for State Rep.” but
his CTE name is Citizens for Brandon Mikula. Not sure if it needs to be refiled or if the bureau will hanor

it as-is?

Please advise. Thanks!
Kristin

Kristin Combs
Political Director

LAMBERT

Office; 517.267.9017 106 W. Allegan Street, Suite 200
Mobile: 517.819.2841 Lansing, Ml 48933

Detroit | New York | Phoenix

www-lambertcom | b0l Worldwide Partner




JOCELYN BENSON, SECRETARY OF STATE
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

LANSING
January 25, 2021
Brandon Mikula
15265 Windmill Drive
Macomb, MI 48044

Re:  Forbertv. Mikula
Campaign Finance Complaint
No. 2020-10-193-33

Dear Mr. Mikula:

The Department of State (Department) received a formal complaint filed by Mark Forbert
against you alleging that you violated the Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA or Act),
1976 PA 388, MCL 169.201 et seq. A copy of the complaint and supporting documentation is
enclosed with this letter.

Section 24 requires committees to file a statement of organization with the proper filing efficial
within 10 days after the committee is formed. MCL 169.224(1). On the statement of
organization, a request for a reporting waiver is granted until the candidate committee spends or
receives in excess of $1,000 at which point, the reporting obligations of section 33 are triggered.

Section 33 requires candidates and committees file contributions and expenditures with the
appropriate filing official by specific dates. MCL 169.233(1) — (3). The MCFA requires a
committee that receives or expends more than $1,000 during any election to file campaign
finance reports in compliance with the Act. MCL 169.233(6). A person who knowingly omits
or underreports expenditures required to be disclosed by the Act is subject to a civil fine of not
more than $1,000 or the amount of the expenditures omitted or underreported, whichever is
greater. MCL 169.233(11).

Mr. Forbert alleges that your committee’s Facebook page has spent more than $1,000 in
advertisements therefore making you ineligible to receive the reporting waiver. Mr. Forbert
further alleges that since you were no longer eligible for the reporting waiver, you were required
to file reports under section 33.

The purpose of this letter is to inform you of the Department’s examination of these matters and
your right to respond to the allegations before the Department proceeds further. It is important to
understand that the Department is neither making this complaint nor accepting the allegations as
true. The investigation and resolution of this complaint is governed by section 15 of the Act and
the corresponding administrative rules, R 169.51 ef seq. An explanation of the investigation
process is enclosed with this letter and a copy is available on the Department’s website.

BUREALU OF ELECTIONS
RICHARD H. AUSTIN BUILDING, 430 W. ALLEGAN STREET * LANSING, MICHIGAN 48918
www.Michigan.gov/elections * (517} 335-3234



Brandon Mikula
January 25, 2021
Page 2

If you wish to file a written response to this complaint, you are required to do so within 15
business days of the date of this letter. Your response may include any written statement or
additional documentary evidence you wish to submit. Please submit any response via email to
Elections@Michigan.gov. All materials may also be sent to the Department of State, Bureau of
Elections, Richard H. Austin Building, 1* Floor, 430 West Allegan Street, Lansing, Michigan
48918. If you fail to submit a response, the Department will render a decision based on the
evidence furnished by the complainant.

A copy of your answer will be provided to Mr. Forbert, who will have an opportunity to submit a
rebuttal statement to the Department. After reviewing all of the statements and materials
provided by the parties, the Department will determine whether “there may be reason to believe
that a violation of [the MCFA] has occurred [.]” MCL 169.215(10). Note that the Department’s
enforcement powers include the possibility of entering a conciliation agreement, conducting an
administrative hearing, or referring this matter to the Attorney General for enforcement of the
penalty provided in section 33(11) of the Act.

If you have any questions concerning this matter, you may contact me at (517) 335-3234.

Sincerely,

Adam [;racassi

Bureau of Elections
Michigan Department of State

c Mark Forbert



February 15, 2021

Mr. Fracassi,

Before I detail my response to the complaint filed against my committee, I wish to
express our profound desire to correct any mistakes, or misinterpretations, of Section 24,
Appendix C, of the MCFA. As a public servant for a decade — from my time in the United States
Navy, as a firefighter, or as a healthcare worker, it has been my motivation to the serve the
public to the best of my ability — and this is no exception. This was my first venture into politics
and at every point during my campaign I strived for the utmost transparency. As of this letter, we
have already taken the proactive step of filing a post-election statement for the August 42020,
Primary Election — as was requested by Mr. Forbert in his complaint against my committee.
Should the Bureau of Elections determine that our campaign committee needs to correct any
other error on our behalf, I will ensure those corrections are done in the most expeditated
manner possible.

On February 14, 2021, I was made aware of a complaint filed against my campaign committee
(Citizens for Brandon Mikula) by one Mark Forbert of Chesterfield, Michigan. This complaint
alleged that our committee violated Section 24, Appendix C, of the Michigan Campaign Finance
Act (MCFA) — specifically by exceeding the $1,000 eligibility threshold for a financial reporting
waiver during the August 4™, 2020, primary campaign cycle. This complaint states that the
committee spent $4,834.41 on Facebook advertisements during the campaign. The only other
expenditure of the committee during this time was for yard signs totaling the amount of $225.50.
No donations were received (excluding a loan to the committee by the candidate!,) campaign
staff worked in a volunteer capacity virtually, and all campaign activities were done virtually
through free services - accruing no additional campaign expenditures.

At the time of the filing of our reporting waiver, our committee did not expect to exceed the
$1,000 threshold as described in Section 24, Appendix C, of the MCFA ~ the committee,
however, did exceed this amount but after the deadlines for both the Pre-Election and 48
Hour/Late Contribution Reports for the August 4%, 2020, Primary Election. Specifically, the
committee exceeded this threshold on August 7%, 2020, when the aforementioned Facebook
advertisements were posted for payment to the committee. For further clarification, at the time of
the 2020 Primary Campaign Cycle, Facebook did not charge for political advertisements when
they were submitted - instead, Facebook charged accounts after all political advertising ceased
for that particular account. Our committee posted our last Facebook advertisement on August 4%,
2020, and then, as previously noted, were charged for all subsequent advertisements on August
7th. 2020 — prior to that date, Facebook only offered projections of the maximum cost of an
advertisement (as seen in the images provided by the complainant,) though these projections
could, by the guidelines of Facebook, vary wildly and end up at much lower amounts based on
a number of factors (amount of users reached, duration, etc.) — which made it nearly-impossible

L { oans were made by candidate on June 15%, 2020, and August 7", 2020, for $225.50 and $4,834.41, respectively.



for our committee to accurately predict if we would indeed exceed the $1,000 reporting waiver
threshold.

Since the final, official, costs for these advertisements were not posted until August 7%, 2020,
after our defeat in the August 40, 2020, primary — and the only accrued charges to the commiitee
prior to the last pre-primary election finance report was $225.50 for yard signs (under the $1,000
reporting waiver threshold,) I, nor my campaign finance manager, believed it was necessary to
file a campaign finance statement after that point as the campaign ended on August 4", 2020,
with our defeat, and we did not proceed to a general election. We consulted the following
language in Section 24, Appendix C, of the MCFA, for this decision:

“LOSS OF THE WAIVER: A committee automatically loses its Reporting Waiver if it exceeds
$1,000.00 in receipts, expenditures or debt during the calendar year or for the election (as
applicable). If the Reporting Waiver is lost, the committee must file the next required campaign
statement and all subsequent statements until the Reporting Waiver is regained. The first
campaign statement filed after the loss of a Reporting Waiver must begin on either:

o January Ist of the year in which the Reporting Waiver was lost, or
o The day following the last date covered if this date is after January Ist.”

Specifically, we consulted, “the committee must file the next required campaign statement and
all subsequent statements until the Reporting Waiver is regained.” Since we were no longer
campaigning after August 4™, 2020, we did not believe there were any further campaign
statements that needed to be filed - if this interpretation was incorrect on our behalf, I will ensure
that any financial statements that the Bureau of Elections deems necessary are filed in the most
expedited manner possible for public record. As I mentioned at the start of this letter, however,
we have already taken the proactive step of filing a post-clection campaign financial statement to
address the concerns of Mr. Forbert in his complaint.

If you require any further information from myself, you can reach me anytime at (586) 612-
6303, or at citizensforbrandonmikula@hotmail.com — I will be more than happy to assist you, or
the Bureau of Elections, in any way possible. Thank you for your time.

Very respectfully,

Brandin G Wikul

Brandon Joseph Mikula.



JOCELYN BENSON, SECRETARY OF STATE
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

| LANSING
5
|
April 21, 2021
Mark Forbert
50616 Martinique Street
New Baltimore, MI 48047

E Dear Mr. Forbert:

The Department of State received a response to the complaint you filed against Brandon Mikula,
which concerns an alleged violation of the Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA), 1976 P.A.
388, MCL 169.201 ef seq. A copy of the response is provided as an enclosure with this letter.

If you elect to file a rebuttal statement, you are required to send it within 10 business days of the
date of this letter to the Bureau of Elections, Richard H. Austin Building, 1* Floot, 430 West
Allegan Street, Lansing, Michigan 48918,

| Sincerely,

Adam F(;cassi

Bureau of Elections
Michigan Department of State

¢: Brandon Mikula

BUREAU QF ELECTIONS
RICHARD M. AUSTIN BUILDING, 430 W. ALLEGAN STREET * LANSING, MICHIGAN 48918
www.Michigan.gov/elections * (517) 335-3234
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May 12, 2021

Mr. Adam Fracassi

Michigan Department of State, Bureau of Election
Richard H. Austin Building

430 W. Allegan

First Floor

Lansing, MI 48918

Mr. Fracassi,

| recently received a response to my complaint filed against Mr. Brandon Mikula for campaign finance
violations. While | appreciate Mr. Mikula’s effort, his integrity is to be questioned. Mr. Mikula has run for
office before-a simple google search will show his candidacy for Congress. The information contained in
my original complaint should be more than sufficient to show that Mr. Mikula’s campaign spent more
than $1000 prior to the primary which would cause him to lose his campaign finance waiver and require
him to file a pre-primary and post primary report. Each screenshot includes dates and amounts spent.
Facebook requires immediate payment to run ads even if it is on a credit card. Ignorance of law excuses
no one. The Michigan SOS has extensive material on the requisite candidate laws which includes similar
sentiments and makes training mandatory for use of MERTS software. Mr. Mikula should have done his
homework if he wants to be the one making laws.

Please do not hesitate to contact me should you need any additional information.
Thank you,
Mark Forbert

50616 Martinique Street
New Baltimore, M| 48047
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STATE OF MICHIGAN

JOCELYN BENSON, SECRETARY OF STATE

DEPARTMENT OF STATE
LANSING

July 27,2021

Brandon Mikula
15265 Windmill Drive
Macomb, MI 48044

Via email
Dear Mr, Mikula:

The Department of State (“Department™) has finished its investigation into the complaint filed
against you by Mark Forbert which alleged violations of the Michigan Campaign Finance Act
(“MCFA” or “Act™), 1976 P.A. 388, MCL 169.201 et seq. This letter concerns the disposition of
your complaint.

The complaint was filed with the Department on September 30, 2020 and stated that you did not
properly file complete campaign financial statements following your campaign’s surpassing of
the $1,000.00 reporting waiver threshold. Mr. Forbert provided evidence of your campaign’s
advertisement funding on Facebook. He submitted screenshots of the total amount your
campaign paid for specific Facebook advertisements as well as the total amount spent on
advertising during certain date ranges. For example, based on the provided Facebook records,
from May 7 to September 28, 2020 your campaign spent $4,501.00 on advertisements, Mr.
Forbert also provided Facebook’s records on your campaign’s advertisement spending from May
2018 to July 31, 2020—the timeframe leading up to the Aungust 4 Primary Election-—equaling
$2,459.00.

In your response to the complaint by letter dated February 15, 2021, you stated that you had a
good faith belief that your committee would not exceed the $1,000.00 reporting waiver
threshold. You noted that the threshold was only surpassed affer the August 4, 2020 Primary
Election on August 7, 2020, making it impossible to comply with the MCFA’s pre-election filing
deadlines. Although the Facebook advertisements were running prior to this election, you stated
that you did not know and that it was impossible to know how much those advertisements would
individually, or in total, cost because Facebook only provides a “projection” of the cost, which
varies depending on multiple factors including total audience reached and duration the
advertisement is run. You acknowledged the only guaranteed cost incurred prior to the pre-
election filing deadline was the $225.50 your campaign spent on yard signs, which is under the
$1,000.00 reporting threshold. Finally, you informed the Department that you have filed a post-
election statement to remedy Mr. Forbert’s complaint.

By leiter dated May 21, 2021, Mr. Forbert submitted a rebuttal to your complaint response
reiterating his belief that you failed to properly file a pre-election campaign statement. He
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disputed your claim that individuals only pay for Facebook advertising after the campaign’s
conclusion, arguing instead that Facebook requires immediate payment to run advertisements.
The primary issue in this case is whether you spent or received over $1,000.00 during the time
prior to the election and therefore exceeded the reporting waiver threshold prior to the pre-
¢lection reporting period. Based on the arguments and evidence provided, the Department
concludes that a violation has occurred as you could have reasonably known prior to this pre-
election filing period that your campaign spent more than $1,000.00, triggering pre-election
reporting requirements under the MCFA; however, the Department is dismissing this complaint
due to ambiguity in how the MCFA governs online social media advertisement spending and
reporting requirements.

Committees are required to file a statement of organization within ten (10) days after the
committee is formed. MCL 169.224(1). Committees may indicate in a written statement that the
committee does not expect for an election to receive an amount in excess of $1,000.00 or expend
an amount in excess of $1,000.00. MCL 169.224(5) — (6). However, committees that do receive
or spend over $1,000.00 during a period covered by a filing must then file their contributions and
expenditures with the Department. MCL 169.233(1) — (3), (6).

To assess this complaint, the Department reviewed Facebook’s policy on advertisement
payments. Facebook allows candidates to set a “budget,” which it describes as the “total amount
you want to spend daily or over the course of the campaign,” which is editable by the candidate
at any time. The candidate also sets a “bid” or the “maximum amount [they’re] willing to pay
when someone sees [their] ad.” Once a candidate sets a budget and bid, the advertisements
associated with the candidate’s Facebook page have their audience “reach” adjusted to be within
that total amount. Even if the advertisement reaches more (or less) people, the amount spent on
the ad should stay under that threshold budget. Facebook specifically states that “[w]e’ll
[Facebook] never spend more than your max” budget on advertising.
https:/fwww.facebook.com/business/ads/pricing.

Based on the Department’s interpretation and understanding of Facebook’s policy, your claim
that Facebook only gave you projections is more plausible than Mr. Forbert’s claim that
Facebook requires upfront payments for running advertisements on the social media platform.
Even if you gave Facebook a budget maximum, it seems impossible for you to have known a
definitive amount any individual advertisement would have cost your campaign as the exact
number would depend on the ultimate number of individuals “reached” by the advertisement.
Therefore, it would have been impossible for you to have known the total amount your campaign
would have spent on your Facebook advertisements prior to the Primary Election (within the pre-
election reporting period) and whether that amount surpassed the $1,000.00 reporting waiver
threshold in MCL 169.224(5).

The Department agrees it was impossible for you to have known the exact amount exceeded
$1,000.00 prior to the Primary Election, however, the Department concludes you should have
reasonably known the total amount that your pre-election advertisements would have cost would
exceed the reporting waiver threshold. Although Facebook only gives candidates projections
prior to the conclusion of the running of an advertisement, candidates can set a maximum, or
“ceiling,” that they are willing to spend on those advertisements. This ceiling can be set for
individual advertisements or as an overall amount. Therefore, acting on your good faith belief
that your campaign would not spend more than $1,000.00, you could have told Facebook your
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ceiling was $1,000.00 and adjusted the total duration and reach of your advertisements based on
this maximum. For example, you could have run ten Facebook advertisements with a budget
ceiling of $100 per advertisement to ensure that your campaign would never exceed the
$1,000.00 reporting waiver threshold. The evidence indicates that you spent over $4,500.00 on
Facebook advertisements alone. This amount far exceeds the $1,000,00 reporting waiver
threshold to the point where it is unreasonable to suggest you truly believed you would not
surpass that threshold.

However, even though you should have reasonably believed your campaign surpassed the
$1,000.00 reporting waiver threshold, the Department does not find you violated the reporting
requirements under MCL 169.233(1) - (3). The MCFA requires committees to report specific,
not estimated, contribution and expenditure amounts in their campaign statements. MCL
169.226(1). Even if it was reasonable to believe you would surpass the $1,000.00 reporting
waiver threshold, it would have been impossible for you to properly report the amount spent on
these advertisements without more than Facebook’s projections.

The Department recognizes the confusion that can result when attempting to apply the MCFA to
Facebook advertisements. The MCFA was passed in 1984, far before individuals even
conceived of Facebook or the social media age. Given the age of the MCFA and technological
advances in political campaigns, this part of the Act as it relates to the facts of this case were
difficult — if not impossible — to comply with.

With this in mind, the Department dismisses the complaint and will consider options to better
accommodate technological advances in campaigns for the future. You are not required to take

any further action at this time.

Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to email me at FracassiA@michigan.gov.

Sincerely,

i

Adam Fracassi
Bureau of Elections
Michigan Department of State

¢: Mark Forbert



